FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/30/2020 3:04 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98368-2

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO.76929-4-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CHEN et al.

Plaintiffs/Petitioners

V.

#### KATE HALAMAY and ALLEGRO PEDIATRICS

Defendants/Respondents

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Susan Chen, Pro Se Petitioner

PO BOX 134, Redmond, WA 98073

Telephone: (323)902-7038

####

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Through a series of decisions, the Washington Supreme Court reiterated that pro se
  representation is prohibited in the state of Washington to best protect public interests.
  Here, the Court of Appeals affirmed trial court's dismissal with prejudice against minors
  who were represented by pro se parents. Did the courts below err in granting pro se
  parents the privilege of unauthorized practice of law, warranting review by this Court?
  RAP 13.4 (b)(1)-(4).
- 2. It has been well established through a series of cases that appointment of guardian ad litem for minors are "mandatory" in Washington state. RCW 4.08.050 unambiguously impose duty upon superior court judge who is required to make the <u>first</u> inquiry about guardians' appropriateness and to avoid prejudice to minors. Here, the trial court never made such inquiry (even after brought to its attention) but entered an order dismissing minors' claims with prejudice. Despite the plain language of the statute and controlling precedents, the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal with prejudice against minors. Did the courts below misinterpret and misapply the statute, warranting review by this Court? RAP 13.4 (b)(1)-(4).
- 3. RCW 4.08.050 was enacted to *protect* minors' best interests. Here, Court of Appeals held minors accountable for their parents' alleged untimely requests of appointment of guardian ad litem. Did the court misinterpret and misapply the statute, warranting review by this Court? RAP 13.4 (b) (1)-(4).
- 4. Did the trial court have authority over minors who had not been made parties of the case, absent representation of both guardian ad litem and licensed attorneys?

#### III. FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Respondent Halamay's below-the-standard care and misdiagnosis has caused significant and irreversible harms J.L. and his family

Chen's minor child, J.L. was taken away by CPS due to Defendant Halamay's negligence and misrepresentation. Halamay jumped to a conclusion before reviewing J.L.'s medical history, consulting with his main treating physicians. (CP 3-4). Notably, the state and prosecutors eventually determined that Halamay's allegations in CPS referral were *directly contrary to* the facts in J.L.'s medical records, which was available to Halamay (CP 235). Indeed, Halamay admitted in the *recorded* deposition to Attorney Ms. Twyla Carter that many of her statements in her CPS report were untrue, for instance, J.L.'s kidney function was normal but she misrepresented to CPS as "kidney failure." (CP. 1526-1529).

Halamay's misstatements and misdiagnosis led to J.L.'s one-year out of home placement among eight different homes, being abused and denied treatments in foster homes, and eventually lost all his abilities. At age of 10, still in diapers, cannot speak, constantly crying and screaming uncontrollably, sometimes for hours, at any actual or possible separation from his parents. The parents have sought treatment at many hospitals including Harvard, to no avail. J.L. had none of these characteristics before the misdiagnoses of the Defendants and the disastrous one year in eight different foster homes, being denied treatments, and minimal contacts with his parents and brother. (CP 284-285).

B. Chen *pro se* sued Halamay, mistakenly added minors' names in the complaint but promptly brought to the attention of the court. The Court did not address the issue.

Chen *pro se* filed a civil action against Halamay and Allegro Pediatrics in King County Superior Court, seeking civil redress for Halamay's below-the-standard care and medical malpractice. At that time, Chen was still looking for legal representation, but out of caution, she *pro se* filed the complaint due to the concern of expired statute limitation.

Chen mistakenly added minors' names as plaintiffs, but quickly brought to the court's attention that as pro se parents, they cannot represent the child. CP. 210 (Chen writes, "as parents we cannot represent the children in this claim as parents..."). Without addressing the raised issue, the trial court entered a dismissal with prejudice. Chen moved for reconsideration, raising the issue of absence of guardian ad litem, and constitutionality of dismissing minors' claims with prejudice without legal representation. See, CP 282 (Chen writes, "due to failure to appoint a Guardian ad Litem ("GAL") to bring the action, the action on behalf of the minors was a nullity. and there was no action on behalf of minors for judicial consideration, and therefore no action to dismiss. In this case, the Court failed to give consideration to the additional factor unique to the context of the case, i.e., L.L. and J.L.'s minority status and J.L.'s disabilities. American Disability Act (ADA) of 1990 and Rehabilitation Act protect the disabled's rights to fundamental fairness. J.L.'s constitution rights of access to the Court cannot be denied during to his inability to understand the legal proceedings without the assistance of counsel and before reaching majority. Dismissing minor's claims with prejudice violates the due process and equal protection guarantees of the Federal and state Constitutions.". The trial court denied Chen's reconsideration. CP 308-309. Chen timely appealed.

C. Court of Appeals affirmed a dismissal with prejudice and denied reconsideration, but silent to the issue of "unauthorized practice of law".

Chen later discovered that Halamay withheld 135 pages' medical records highly relevant to the litigation and moved to vacate the judgment on grounds of Halamay's withholds and trial court's failure to comply with guardian ad litem statute and other procedural irregularities. Chen specifically raised issues of the absence of guardian ad litem (CP 654-656) and minors' constitutional rights of being represented by competent legal counsel (CP 656-658). Trial court denied Chen's motion to vacate, leaving multiple issues unaddressed, for instance, the absence of guardian ad litem (CP 1547). Chen appealed order denying on motion to vacate. The two appeals were consolidated.

On appeal, Chen challenged trial court's defective judgment and its authority over minors absent appointment of guardian ad litem. Chen wrote,

"[i]n Newell v. Ayers, Division Three held that when lacking guardian ad litem, "judgment against minors may be voidable at his option." Similarly, [Division One] recognized that "[t]he guardian ad litem] statute is mandatory, and the children's interests are paramount. We cannot condone ignoring the statutory provision specifically designed to protect them." Dependency of A.G."

Brief, at 20.

Chen also argued that the dismissal cannot be with prejudice absent factual findings required by CR 41 (b)(3) and CR 52 (a)(1). Chen writes,

"CR 41 (b)(3) provides, 'If the court renders judgment on the merits against the plaintiff, the court shall make findings as provided in rule 52 (a)." CR 52 (d) ("a judgment entered in a case tried to the court where findings are required, without findings of fact having been made, is subject to a motion to vacate..."

Brief, at 35.

On February 10, 2020, Division One entered an unpublished opinion, affirming a dismissal, but silent as to whether the dismissal was jurisdictional or on the merits. On February

28, Chen moved for reconsideration on multiple grounds, and specifically challenged Division One's manifest error, *i.e.*, by affirming a dismissal with prejudice, Division One improperly granted *pro se* parents privilege of "unauthorized practice of law", in consistent with both federal and state laws. Chen also contested that '[d]ismissing the minors' claims with prejudice without ensuring that they receive meaningful notice [through appointment of guardian ad litem] violates the children's due process rights."

On March 3, Washington licensed attorney, Mr. James Daugherty, *privately retained* by J.L.'s parents to appear on J.L.'s behalf. On March 23, Division One denied Chen's motion for reconsideration, silent to the issue of "unauthorized practice of law." (App. B). Three weeks later, Court of Appeals denied Mr. Daugherty's appearance. Motion for Discretionary Review on denial of legal counsel's representation is filed in #98503-1.

Chen seeks this Court's review of Division One's two decisions (App A & B), and is granted extension to submit the petition on June 30, 2020 in light of this Court's order No. 25700-B-611 suspending the provisions of RAP 18.8 (b) during the COVID-19 public health emergency.

#### IV. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT FOR REVIEW

It is well settled by repeated decisions that the Washington Supreme Court has the exclusive authority to regulate the practice of law in the state of Washington. See, In re Chi-Dooh Li, 79 Wn.2d 561, 488 P.2d 259 (1971); In re Ballou, 48 Wn.2d 539, 295 P.2d 316 (1956); State ex rel. Laughlin v. State Bar Ass'n, 26 Wn.2d 914, 176 P.2d 301 (1947); In re Levy, 23 Wn.2d 607, 161 P.2d 651, 162 A.L.R. 805 (1945); In re Bruen, 102 Wash. 472, 172 P. 1152 (1918); In re Lambuth, 18 Wash. 478, 51 P. 1071 (1898). In Hagan & Van Kamp, P.S. v. Kassler Escrow,

Inc., 96 Wn. 2d 443, 635 P.2d 730 (1981), this Court held that, in enacting RCW chapter 19.62, the legislature unconstitutionally encroached upon the judiciary's power to regulate the practice of law. Relying upon the doctrines of separation of powers and inherent judicial power, the court unanimously reasserted its exclusive power to define and regulate the practice of law. Id.

It is the established rule throughout the county that nonlawyer *pro se* litigants cannot represent others in court. 28 U.S.C § 1654 ("In all courts of the United States the parties may plead and conduct their own cases personally or by counsel..."); *Johns v. County of San Diego*, 114 F. 3d 874, 877 (9th Cir. 1987) ("a nonlawyer 'has no authority to appear as an attorney for others than himself"); *Wash. State Bar Assn. v. Great W. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn.*, 91 Wn.2d 48, 596 P.2d 870 (1978) ("The 'pro se' exceptions are quite limited and apply only if the layperson is acting solely *on his own behalf:*") (emphasis in original). *Pro se* parents do not have the exemption to bring a lawsuit on behalf of a minor without retaining a lawyer. *e.g., Osei-Afriyie v. Medical College*, 937 F.2d 876, 882-83 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1990); *Cheung v. Youth Orchestra Found. Of Buffalo, Inc.*, 906 F.2d 59, 61-62 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1990); *Meeker v. Kercher*, 782 F.2d 153, 154 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986) (per curiam); *Johns v. County of San Diego*, 114 F.3d 814 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997).

Petitioners, Chen and Lian ("Chen") are nonlawyers and cannot represent their children. By affirming trial court's dismissal with prejudice against minors, Court of Appeals improperly granted *pro se* litigants' privilege of unauthorized practice of law. *cf. Johns* (9<sup>th</sup> Circuit holding that dismissal with prejudice should be amended as dismissal without prejudice because *pro se* parents cannot represent their children.).

Division One's interpretation and application was at odds with legislative intent that guardian ad litem statute was enacted to protect minors' interests by imposing the initial duty

upon superior court. But here, this statute was used as grounds to exclude minors out of courtroom.

The disabled minor, J.L. did nothing wrong but was injured by Respondent Halamay's negligence and will carry on all the pains and damages to the end of his life. It is a gross miscarriage of justice to deny his rights to be fully presented in court by a licensed lawyer. By affirming a dismissal with prejudice against minors, Division One committed a manifest error affecting minors' constitutional rights of access to the courts. This Court should review and decide (i) whether Division One has the authority to grant pro se parents privilege of representing their children in Washington courts; (ii) whether the superior court has the authority to render a dismissal with prejudice against minors who had not been properly before the court, absent representation by licensed lawyer and guardian ad litem; and (iii) whether the lower courts had misinterpreted and misapplied guardian ad litem statute.

A. Division One's decision creates a new rule permitting pro se representation that ignores RCW 2.48.010 et seq and APR, conflicts with this Court's decisions in Great Western and Hagan that pro se litigants are prohibited from unauthorized practice of law, and raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4 (b) (1)-(4).

Regulation of practice of law is an issue involving public interests. In a series of cases, this Court has declared that regulating practice of law is to best protect and serve the public interest. *In re Lambuth.*, 18 Wash. 478, 51 P. 1071 (1898) (per curiam). Specifically, this Court stated,

[P]ower to strike from the rolls is inherent in the court itself. No statute or rule is necessary to authorize the punishment in proper cases. Statutes and rules may regulate the power, but they do not create it. It is necessary for the protection of the court, the proper administration of justice, the dignity and purity of the profession, and for the public good and the protection of clients.

Through a series of repeated decisions, this Court announces its determination to regulate the practice of law in this state to protect the public interests. In *Washington State Bar Association v. Washington Association of Realtors*, 41Wn. 2d 697,251 P.2d619(1952), this Court expands its power to regulate the practice of law necessarily broadened its authority to regulate laypersons' preparation of real estate documents. The *Realtors* Court stated that a legislative act permitting gratuitous legal work by the "unskilled or unqualified" could not prevent the court from granting an injunction if necessary, to protect the public interest. In *Wash. State Bar Assn. v. Great W. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn.*, 91 Wn.2d 48, 586 P.2d 870 (1978), this Court reiterated, "Ordinarily, only those persons who are licensed to practice law in this state may do so without liability for authorized practice...It is our duty to protect the public from the activity of those who, because of lack of professional skills, may cause injury whether they are members of the bar or persons never qualified for or admitted to the bar."

In response to the holding in *Great Western*, the Washington legislature enacted RCW chapter 19.62, authorizing escrow agents and others to select, prepare, and complete certain real estate documents. Stressing its duty to protect the public from injury by unauthorized practitioners, this Court unanimously determined that the statute was dangerously flawed because "it virtually gives free rein to almost anyone of any degree of intelligence to perform any task related to real property or personal property transactions." Finding RCW chapter 19.62 authorized nonlawyers to perform services defined by the court as the practice of law, the court

struck down the statute as unconstitutional extension of legislative power. *Hagan & Van Kamp*, *P.S. v. Kassler Escrow, Inc.*, 96 Wn. 2d 443, 635 P.2d 730 (1981).

Under Washington law, "only active members may practice law" RCW 2.48.170. Also, Washington Admission and Practice Rules ("APR") 5. Under General Rule ("GR") 24, any legal activities such as "drafting or completion of legal documents" or "representation" are considered the practice of law. In order to practice laws in Washington courts, one is required to be an active member of Washington State Bar. Prior to admission, one is required to complete the required legal training, pass the bar exam, and receive an order from the Supreme Court of Washington admitting one to practice law. Chen does not meet any of the above requirements and can therefore only represent herself under quite limited "pro se exception".

The Court is under the duty to protect minors' interests. As noted by the court in *Osei-Afriyie*, "The infant is always the ward of every court wherein his rights or property are brought into jeopardy, and is entitled to the most jealous are that no injustice be done to him." *Osei-Afriyie*, 937 F.2d at 883. In order to protect those rights, all jurisdictions throughout the country have chosen to dismiss minors' claims without prejudice, "thereby giving [minors] further opportunity to secure an attorney at some later time within the limitations period...[minor] should not be prejudiced by his father's failure to comply with the court order." *Johns*. The Third Circuit explained the rationale:

A litigant has a right to act as his or her own counsel...However, we agree with *Meeker v. Kercher*, 782 F.2d 153, 154 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986) (per curiam), that a non-attorney parent must be represented by counsel in bringing an action on behalf of his or her child. The choice to appear *pro se* is not a true choice for minors who under state law...cannot determine their own legal actions. There is thus no individual choice to proceed pro se for courts to respect, and the sole policy at stake concerns the exclusion of non-licensed persons to appear as attorneys on behalf of others.

It goes without saying that it is not the interest of minors or incompetents that they be represented by non-attorneys. Were they have claims that require adjudication, they are entitled to trained legal assistance so their rights may be fully protected.

Osei-Afriyie, 937 F.2d at 882-883.

As a result of its reasoning, the *Osei-Afriyie* Court remanded the appeal to the district court so that it could be either appoint counsel under 28 U.S. C.A § 1915 (d) or *dismiss the complaint without prejudice*.

Consistent with the third Circuit, the Second Circuit concluded a dismissal without prejudice should be entered as to minor who was represented by pro se parents. In Cheung v. Youth Orchestra Found. Of Buffalo, Inc., 906 F.2d 59, 61-62 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1990), the Second Circuit stated:

We believe that no issues concerning this litigation should be decided until the counsel issue is resolved. We remand to give Cheung an opportunity to retain counsel or to request the appointment of counsel. However, we confess our own view that the facts of this case hardly cry out for the appointment of counsel. If Cheung does not retain counsel and if the district court declines to appoint counsel, the complaint should be dismissed without prejudice.

Cheung, 906 F.2d at 11 (emphasis added).

In Johns v. County of San Diego, 114 F.3d 874 (9th Cir. 1997), the Ninth Circuit stated, "[b]ecause the goal is to protect the rights of infants, the complaints should not have been dismissed with prejudice as to minor". The Ninth Circuit thus directed the district court to vacate the dismissal with prejudice and enter an order dismissing the case without prejudice.

In this instant case, Division One mistakenly stated that *pro se* parents can act on behalf of a minor child. *See*, Opinion at 16. In making this conclusion, Division One cited *Taylor v*.

Enumclaw Sch. Dist. No. 216, 132 Wn. App. 688, 694, 133 P.3d 492 (2006) but *Taylor* is

factually distinguished: parent in *Taylor* was <u>not</u> pro se but was represented by counsel. Division One's conclusion also conflicts with its most recent decision in re Dependency of E. M., 12 Wn. App. 2d 510, 458 P.3d 810 (2020) (decision entered on February 24, 2020) ("Only legal counsel can advocate for the legal rights and interests of a child."). By affirming superior court's dismissal with prejudice against minors who were represented by pro se parents, Division One has improperly granted pro se parents' privilege of unauthorized practice of law, conflicting with this Court's position that pro se litigants are not allowed to act on others' behalf. While this Court declares it is in the public interests to regulate practice of law, and necessary to prohibit pro se representation, Division One's decision stated differently. Division One's manifest error affects minors' constitutional rights of access to the court, conflicts with this Court's prior holdings and its own and prior decision.

This Court should accept for review and reverse.

B. Guardian ad litem Statute was enacted to protect the incompetent people's interests, Division One's Misinterpretation and Misapplication of RCW 4.08.050 is a denial of minors' rights of access to the courts, conflicts with multiple controlling precedents, and raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4 (b)(1)-(4).

Under Washington law, Guardian ad litem ("GAL") is appointed for the benefit of and to protect the best interests of minors and incompetent persons. The statutory provision for the appointment of a GAL is mandatory, and any adjudication adverse to the interests of such unrepresented minor is reversible error. *Kongsbach v. Casey*, 66 Wash. 643, 120 Pac. 108 (1912); *Mezere v. Flory*, 26 Wn. 2d 274, 173 P. 2d 776 (1946); *Newell v. Ayers*, 23 Wn. App.

767, 598 P.2d 3 (1979) (In interpreting RCW 4.08.050, Division III announces, "the appointment of a guardian ad litem is mandatory...the rule is that a minor must be represented by a guardian ad litem, or the judgment against him may be voidable at his option."); *Dependency of A.G.*, 93 Wn. App. 268, 968 P.2d 424 (1998) ("[t]he guardian ad litem is mandatory, and the children's interests are paramount. We cannot condone ignoring the statutory provision specifically designed to protect them. If resources are insufficient, DCFS should address the problem with the Legislature.").

Division One admitted that appointment of guardian ad litem is mandatory but misinterpreted and misapplied the statute in two respects.

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