FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/10/2020 11:39 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98368-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CHEN as parents and natural guardians of J.L., a minor, and L,L., a minor, and NAIXIANG LIAN, as parents and natural guardians of J.L., a minor, and L.L., a minor,

Petitioners,

v.

KATE HALAMAY, M.D., and ALLEGRO PEDIATRICS (previously known as Pediatric Associates),

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeremiah R. Newhall, WSBA #54959 Attorneys for Respondents FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 749-0094

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Here, repeatedly citing "RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4)" as if all four grounds support acceptance of review, *Pet. at 2, 8, 12*, Chen seeks review of Division I's affirmance of the trial court's dismissal of the minor children's claims with prejudice without first appointing a guardian ad litem that Chen had not previously requested, and Division I's denial of Chen's motion for reconsideration in which Chen claimed for the first time that allowing *pro se* parents to pursue claims on behalf of their minor children somehow constitutes the unauthorized practice of law. Because the Court of Appeals' opinion and denial of reconsideration are not in conflict with any decision of this Court or any published Court of Appeals decision so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), and because Chen's petition involves no significant question of constitutional law or issue of substantial public interest so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4), this Court

should deny Chen's petition for review.

A. Division I's Denial of Reconsideration Based on Chen's Previously
Unmade Argument About Unauthorized Practice of Law Is Not in
Conflict with any Decision of this Court or any Published Decision
of the Court of Appeals, Nor Does It Raise a Significant Question of
Constitutional Law or an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that
Should Be Determined by this Court.

Chen asserts, *Pet. at 8*, that Division I's decision "creates a new rule permitting *pro se* representation" that ignores statutes and rules prohibiting the unauthorized practice of law, conflicts with decisions of this Court, and "raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide." Chen is wrong.

First, nothing in the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision addresses *pro se* representation of a child by a parent at all, because Chen did not make any "unauthorized practice of law" argument in Chen's opening appellate brief or reply brief. Chen first raised the issue of unauthorized practice of law in a motion for reconsideration of the Court of Appeals' decision, and Division I was well within its discretion to decline to address the argument. *See, e.g., In re Estates of Palmer*, 145 Wn. App. 249, 262 n.8, 187 P.3d 758 (2008) (rejecting argument raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration because "it has long been the rule that we will not consider questions presented to us for the first time in a motion for rehearing or reconsideration") (citing, *e.g., Hous. Auth. of King County*)

v. Northeast Lake Wash. Sewer & Water Dist., 56 Wn. App. 589, 595 n.5, rev. denied, 115 Wn.2d 1004 (1990).

Second, Division I did not create a "new rule permitting *pro se* representation" when it denied Chen's motion to reconsider, and its one-sentence order denying the motion for reconsideration does not raise any question of substantial public interest so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Third, Division I's decision not to address Chen's untimely argument on motion for reconsideration is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or any published decision of the Court of Appeals so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). Chen asserts, *Pet. at 8*, that the Court of Appeals' decision and denial of reconsideration conflicts with this Court's decision in *Wash. State Bar Ass'n v. Great W. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 91 Wn.2d 48, 586 P.2d 870 (1978), which Chen cites for the propositions that the "pro se' exceptions are quite limited and apply only if the layperson is acting solely *on his own behalf*," *Pet. at 7*, and that "only those persons who are licensed to practice law in this state may do so without liability for [un]authorized practice ...," *Pet. at 9*. But neither Division I's unpublished opinion nor its denial of reconsideration is in conflict with *Great Western*.

Great Western involved a lawsuit for damages against a bank for

unlawfully charging both sellers and buyers in real estate transactions for the preparation of legal documents that were not drafted by attorneys. *Great Western* at 50-53. Nothing in *Great Western* said anything about whether parents who as guardians are authorized to bring claims on behalf of their minor children under RCW 4.08.050, *see Taylor*, 132 Wn. App. at 694, engage in the unauthorized practice of law if they do so *pro se*. Nothing in *Great Western* had anything to do with any of the issues before Division I on Chen's appeal or motion for reconsideration. Chen has not shown that Division I's unpublished decision and denial of reconsideration are in conflict with *Great Western* or any other decision of this Court so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).³

Chen also asserts, *Pet. at 12*, that Division I's decision and denial of reconsideration is in conflict with *In re Dependency of E.M.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 510, 458 P.3d 810 (2020), which Chen cites for the proposition that "[o]nly legal counsel can advocate for the legal rights and interests of a child." *See In re E.M.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 517. That case dealt with the

-

³ Chen claims, *Pet. at 8*, that Division I's decision also conflicts with this Court's decision in *Hagan & Van Camp, P.S. v. Kassler Escrow, Inc.*, 96 Wn.2d 443, 635 P.2d 730 (1981), but never explains how. Chen just states with regard to *Hagan, Pet. at 9-10*, that it struck down as an "unconstitutional extension of legislative power" RCW chapter 19.62, which the Legislature enacted in response to *Great Western*, authorizing non-lawyers to perform services that the court had defined as the practice of law. Yet, as is true with *Great Western*, nothing in *Hagan* had anything to do with parents' ability as guardians to bring and pursue *pro se* claims on behalf of their minor children and Hagan presents no conflict with the Division I's decision here.

trial court's power to strike the appearance of a privately retained attorney for a child in a dependency action under RCW 13.34.100. *Id.* at 519-20. In context, the quoted sentence simply explains that because attorneys and guardians ad litem have different roles, appointment of both may be appropriate in some dependency cases under RCW 13.34.100. *Id.* at 518. This case, unlike *In re E.M.*, is not a dependency case and RCW 13.34.100 does not apply. Chen has not shown that Division I's decision is in conflict with *In re E.M.* or any other published decision of the Court of Appeals so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Fourth, although Chen, *Pet. at 7, 10-11*, cites a number of federal decisions in which federal courts required dismissal without prejudice of claims brought *pro se* by non-attorney parents on behalf of their minor children,⁴ those cases were all premised on federal law prohibiting non-attorney parents who are not represented by counsel from pursuing claims on behalf of their minor children. None of those federal cases were decided under Washington law. Moreover, conflict between Division I's decision based on Washington law and one or more decisions of federal courts based on federal law is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

٠

⁴ In particular, Chen cites *Johns v. Cty. of San Diego*, 114 F.3d 874, 877 (9th Cir. 1997); *Osei-Afriyie v. Med. Coll.*, 937 F.2d 876, 877 (3d Cir. 1991); *Cheung v. Youth Orchestra Found., Inc.*, 906 F.2d 59, 61 (2d Cir. 1990); *Meeker v. Kercher*, 782 F.2d 153, 154 (10th Cir. 1986).

Fifth, Chen baldly asserts without citation to authority, *Pet. at 12*, that "Division One's manifest error" in affirming the trial court's dismissal with prejudice of minors' claims brought by pro se parents "affects minors' constitutional rights of access to the court." But "naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." In re Pers. Restraint of Rhem, 188 Wn.2d 321, 328, 394 P.3d 367, 370 (2017) (quoting *In re Rosier*, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986)). Moreover, J.L. and L.L. were never denied access to any court. To the extent that Chen's argument can be construed as an assertion that children have a due process right to appointed counsel, children "do not have a categorical due process right to appointment of counsel." In re E.M. at 517. Moreover, it was this Court, and not the Court of Appeals, that denied Chen's request for appointment of counsel for her appeal. Chen has not shown that Division I's decision or denial of reconsideration raises a significant question of law under the Constitution of this state or of the United States so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

B. <u>Division I's Affirmance of The Trial Court's Failure to Appoint a</u>

<u>Guardian ad Litem Is Not in Conflict With Any Decision of This</u>

<u>Court or Published Decision of the Court of Appeals, Nor Does It</u>

<u>Involve a Significant Question of Constitutional Law or an Issue of Substantial Public Interest</u>

Chen contends, *Pet. at 12-16*, that Division I misapplied RCW 4.08.050 when it held that Chen had failed to cite authority for the

proposition that the trial court was required to *sua sponte* appoint a guardian ad litem for J.L. and L.L., and that, absent appointment of a guardian ad litem, the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the claims their parents brought on behalf of the minor children. Chen is mistaken.

Chen argues, *Pet. at 12*, that Division I's decision conflicts with "controlling precedents" and creates an issue of "substantial public interest" because it did not hold that the trial court was required to appoint a guardian ad litem *sua sponte*. Division I's decision does not conflict with controlling precedents or raise an issue of substantial public interest.

Division I correctly concluded that the trial court was not required to appoint a guardian ad litem because no party sought such an appointment until after entry of summary judgment. *Slip Op. at* 16-17. RCW 4.08.050 authorized Ms. Chen and Mr. Lian to initiate a lawsuit on behalf of their minor children as their legal guardians. *See Taylor v. Enumclaw Sch. Dist.*, 132 Wn. App. 688, 694, 133 P.3d 492 (2006). RCW 4.08.050(1) requires a trial court to appoint a guardian ad litem for a minor plaintiff if the minor "has no guardian, or in the opinion of the court the guardian is an in improper person," and then when the minor is plaintiff and under the age of 14 "upon the application of a relative or friend of the infant." As Division I correctly observed, *Slip Op. at* 16, no one applied for appointment of a guardian ad litem until after the entry of summary

judgment. And the trial court never opined that the parents were improper persons to act as guardians.

Chen asserts, *Pet. at 12-13*, that Division I's decision conflicts with cases such as *Newell v. Ayers*, 23 Wn. App. 767, 598 P.2d 3, *rev. denied*, 92 Wn.2d 1036 (1979), which observed that "appointment of a guardian ad litem is mandatory" under RCW 4.08.050. But, nothing in *Newell* would require a different result in this case. To the contrary, in *Newell*, Division III held that failure to appoint a guardian ad litem was not jurisdictional and thus affirmed the judgment against the defendant minors because "the failure to appoint a guardian is a technical error which did not affect the result of the trial." *Newell*, 23 Wn. App. at 772.⁵ Thus, even if the failure to appoint a guardian ad litem were error, *Newell* would not require reversal.

The other cases on which Chen relies are similarly inapposite, as none would require appointment of a guardian ad litem for minors who appear through their legal guardian. *See Mezere v. Flory*, 26 Wn.2d 274, 277, 173 P.2d 776 (1946) (holding that an *in rem* judgment against property previously conveyed to minors was void because the minors had no notice of the *in rem* proceeding and were not represented "by a guardian or a guardian ad litem."); *Kongsbach v. Casey*, 66 Wash. 643, 644-45, 120 P.

⁵ *Newell* also does not discuss whether the minor defendants in that case could have appeared by their legal guardians, as J.L. and L.L. did in this case.

108 (1912) (holding that trial court erred by dismissing lawsuit brought by a minor instead of appointing a guardian ad litem.); *Dependency of A.G.*, 93 Wn. App. 268, 280, 968 P.2d 424 (1998) (holding that failure to appoint a guardian ad litem under RCW 13.34.100 in a proceeding to terminate parental rights is not jurisdictional and "does not necessarily constitute reversible error.").

Chen also claims, *Pet. at 15*, that the trial court "failed to make the initial inquiry" into whether Ms. Chen and her husband were improper persons to serve as guardians. She relies upon RCW 4.08.050, which requires the trial court to appoint a guardian ad litem if the minor "has no guardian, or in the opinion of the court the guardian is an improper person." RCW 4.08.050. But the only facts Chen identifies that should have caused the trial court to find Ms. Chen and her husband to be "improper" as guardians, *Pet. at 15*, are Ms. Chen's language barrier, which the trial court addressed by appointing an interpreter, and that neither parent was an attorney. The trial court did not err by not *sua sponte* appointing a guardian ad litem solely because a minor's legal guardian requires an interpreter or is not an attorney.

Finally, Chen contends, Pet. at 16, that the trial court lacked

٠

 $^{^6}$ Indeed, Judge Ramsdell observed at the February 24, 2017 hearing that Chen's pleadings were "very articulate pleadings." 2/24/17 RP 12.

jurisdiction over J.L. and L.L. because the minors were not "properly before the courts." Chen appears to argue that, because the minors did not have a guardian ad litem, they could not be served, and cites as support *Anderson v. Dussault*, 181 Wn.2d 360, 333 P.3d 395 (2014), and *State v. Douty*, 92 Wn.2d 930, 932, 603 P.2d 373 (1979). *Anderson* and *Douty* each dealt with a minor's lack of notice. In *Anderson*, the minor lacked notice of a claim because the minor had no guardian, *Anderson*, 181 Wn.2d at 369, and in *Douty*, the minor lacked notice of a lawsuit because he was never served with the complaint. *Douty*, 92 Wn.2d at 932. Here, the minors do not lack notice because the lawsuit was brought on their behalf by their parents as guardians.

Division I correctly determined that the trial court did not err by not appointing a guardian ad litem *sua sponte*. Moreover, the failure to appoint a guardian ad litem is not jurisdictional. *Dependency of A.G.*, 93 Wn. App. at 280; *Newell*, 23 Wn. App. at 772. And, because this lawsuit was initiated by the minors' parents as their minor children's guardians, there is no jurisdictional issue with service of the complaint.

Chen has not shown that Division I's decision affirming the trial court's failure to appoint a guardian ad litem conflicts with any decision of this Court or any published decision of the Court of Appeals, or presents any significant question of constitutional law or issue of substantial public

interest so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all these reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 10th day of August, 2020.

FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC

s/Jeremiah R. Newhall

Jeremiah R. Newhall, WSBA #54959 Attorneys for Respondents 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750 Seattle, WA 98104

Ph: 206.749.0094 Fx: 206.749.0194

Email: jeremiah@favros.com